IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAVID MURPHY,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

No. 72103

Electronically Filed
Aug 03 2017 08:31 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Direct Appeal From Judgment of Conviction
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable Carolyn Ellsworth, District Judge
District Court Case No. C-15-303991-4

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CASEY A. LANDIS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 09424

601 South Tenth Street, Suite 104

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Telephone: 702.885.9580

Facsimile: 702.664.2632

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STEVEN WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney

200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor

23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		

1 **I. ROUTING STATEMENT**

2 David Murphy was found guilty pursuant to a jury verdict of Second Degree
3 Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon, a category A felony, for which he received life
4 in prison with the possibility of parole, and six category B felonies.
5

6
7 This appeal is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because the
8 primary offense arises from a category A felony, is not a plea, and challenges more
9 than the imposed sentence or sufficiency of evidence. NRAP 17(b)(1)
10

11 The Nevada Supreme Court should hear this appeal because it addresses issues
12 of first impression under the United States or Nevada Constitution, raises substantial
13 precedential and public policy questions, and discusses issues of statutory
14 construction. NRAP 17(a)(13) and (14). Specifically, this appeal argues codefendants
15 should be severed with they present mutually exclusive defenses that undermine each
16 other. Further, this appeal addresses the proper remedy necessary to protect a
17 defendant's Constitutional right to a fair trial when the State delays disclosing a
18 cooperation agreement with a codefendant to gain a tactical advantage.
19
20
21

22 **II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

23
24 Appellant brings the instant appeal seeking reversal of the jury verdict
25 and resulting judgment of conviction entered against him. Nevada law
26 permits a direct appeal from a final judgment entered against a defendant in a
27
28

1 felony criminal case. See NRS 177.015. The verdict reached by a jury
2 amounts to a final judgment upon the filing of the judgment of
3 conviction. Castillo v. State, 106 Nev. 349, 351 (1990).
4

5 Appellant's sentencing hearing occurred on November 28, 2016.
6 (Appellant's Appendix Volume XIV pp. 3360-3387, hereinafter "XIV:3360-
7 87") Thereafter, the Judgment of Conviction, or final judgment, was filed on
8 December 2, 2016. (X:2175-76) Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on
9 December 30, 2016. (XIV:3388-90) The instant appeal was docketed by the
10 Supreme Court of Nevada on January 11, 2017.
11

12 **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

13 **A. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Appellant's Motion to Exclude** 14 **Summer Larsen Due to the State's Failure to Provide Reasonable** 15 **Notice of its Intent to Call Her as a Cooperating Informant** 16

17 **B. The Trial Court's Failure to Grant Severance Deprived Appellant** 18 **of his Constitutional Right to a Fair Trial and Distorted the Fact** 19 **Finding Process** 20

21 **C. The Trial Court Erred by Permitting The State to Admit and Rely** 22 **on Cellular Telephone Records that were not Provided to the Appellant** 23 **until Day Six of Trial** 24

1 **D. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion and Violated Appellant's**
2 **Constitutional Rights by Disclosing to the Jury that Figueroa's**
3 **Agreement to Testify required him to "Testify Truthfully"**

4
5 **E. The Prosecution Failed to Present Sufficient Evidence to Support**
6 **Appellant's Convictions**

7
8
9 **F. Cumulative Error Warrants Reversal of this Conviction**

10
11 **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

12 The State filed an Indictment on January 30, 2015, charging Appellant
13 with Open Murder, Conspiracy to Commit Robbery, Burglary while in
14 Possession of a Deadly Weapon, Home Invasion while in Possession of a
15 Deadly Weapon, Attempt Robbery with use of a Deadly Weapon, and
16 Attempt Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon. (I:0001-02) At the time of
17 that filing, Appellant was charged along with three codefendants, Jorge
18 Mendoza, Robert Figueroa, and Summer Larsen. (I:0001-02) On February
19 27, 2015, a Superseding Indictment added a forth codefendant, Joseph
20 Laguna, and charged him with the same charges as alleged against his
21 codefendants. (I:0023-29)

22 The charges stemmed from an attempt to invade a drug house and to
23 rob the occupants therein. (I:0110-13) The occupants of the home were armed
24
25
26
27
28

1 and tipped off to the robbery plan, which resulted in a gunfight that left Monty
2 Gibson, one of the occupants of the home, dead. (I:0110-13)

3
4 Appellant entered a not guilty plea and maintained his innocence
5 through trial. Conversely, two of Appellant's four codefendants entered
6 guilty pleas pursuant to a negotiation with the State wherein both agreed to
7 testify against Appellant and the other, remaining codefendants at trial.
8 Robert Figueroa entered into a guilty plea within a month of the Indictment.
9 (II:0264-68) Summer Larsen entered into negotiations with the State less than
10 a week before trial began. (II:0264-69)

11
12
13 Commencing on September 12, 2016, Appellant was tried with
14 codefendants Mendoza and Laguna. (II:0307-0310) After a nineteen-day jury
15 trial, jurors convicted Appellant and his codefendants of all charges alleged
16 against them. (XIV:3260-70) Regarding the Open Murder charge, Appellant
17 and codefendant Laguna were convicted of Second-Degree Murder with use
18 of Deadly Weapon. (XIV:3260-70) Mendoza, the remaining codefendant, was
19 found guilty of First-Degree Murder with use of a deadly weapon. (XIV:3260-
20 70) The trial court sentenced Appellant, in addition to a \$25 administrative
21 assessment, to a combined aggregate sentence for all counts of Life in Prison
22 with parole eligibility after twenty three (23) years. (XIV:3388-90) The
23 Judgment of Conviction was filed on December 2, 2016. (XIV:3388-90)

1 From that final order, Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on December
2 30, 2016. (XV:3400-3401)

3
4 **V. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

5 *A. The Night of September 21, 2014: A Foiled Robbery*

6 Joseph Larsen resided at single family residence located at 1661
7 Broadmere Street in Las Vegas, Nevada. (VIII:1704-05) Joseph's occupation
8 as of September 2014 was the illegal sale of marijuana out of that home.
9 (VIII:1705-08)

10
11
12 As is fairly common in Joseph's line of work, his place of business had
13 become the target of thieves who sought to steal his marijuana and the profits
14 he derived therefrom. On at least two occasions prior to the night of
15 September 21, 2014, Joseph's house was burglarized by assailants who were
16 never apprehended by law enforcement. (VIII:1706-08) In an effort to
17 protect his home and place of business, Joseph procured a roommate, Monty
18 Gibson, to help guard the product and profits of his business. (VIII:1709-10)

19
20
21 Sometime during the afternoon of September 21, 2014, Joseph received
22 a phone call from his father, Steven Larsen. (VIII:1710-11) Steven informed
23 his son that one of Joseph's childhood friends told Steven that Joseph's house
24 was rumored to soon be the target of a burglary and/or robbery. (VIII:1710-
25 11) The police were not notified of the situation and Joseph chose to stay in
26
27
28

1 the house. In preparation for the attack, Joseph and Monty armed themselves
2 with firearms that Joseph kept in the house. (VIII:1710-15)

3
4 Shortly after 8 p.m. three masked assailants approached the front door
5 of Joseph's residence at 1661 Broadmere. According to Robert Figueroa's
6 bargained-for trial testimony, he was the first in line as the three approached
7 the door. (IX:2086) Figueroa further testified that Mendoza was directly
8 behind him and Laguna was in the rear of the line. (IX:2084-86) Murphy was
9 waiting in the car down the street from Joseph's residence. (IX:2080) When
10 the trio reached the front door of Joseph's home, Figueroa forced the door
11 open with his body weight and attempted to enter the residence. (IX:2083)
12 Joseph and Gibson heard the pounding on the door and secured defensive
13 positions in the home relative to the front entryway.
14

15
16
17 Figueroa managed to take two "little steps" into the home before he is
18 shot in the face, right below his lip. (IX:2086-87) The impact causes Figueroa
19 to drop to the ground. (IX:2087) As he regained his footing, Figueroa
20 received a second gunshot to the side of his torso. (IX:2087) Figueroa
21 thereafter retreats from the home and runs down a street situated
22 perpendicular to the front of 1661 Broadmere. (IX:2087-88)
23
24

25
26 Figueroa testified that as he sprinted away from the house, he looked
27 back and witnessed Laguna enter the getaway car Murphy was driving.
28

1 (IX:2088) With Laguna inside, the car quickly sped away from the scene
2 without attempting to pick up Figueroa. (IX:2088) Figueroa claimed that he
3 never removed the gun from its holster while at the Broadmere residence, but
4 admitted to holding the gun as he ran away because it was “flopping around”
5 in the holster. (IX:2088) Figueroa denied that he ever shot during the entirety
6 of the events that night. (IX:2103) Roger Day, a neighbor who observed
7 Figueroa as he fled the scene, provided contradictory testimony. (VII:1649-
8 50) Day testified that he observed Figueroa as he ran away from Broadmere
9 and in the process, Figueroa pointed his gun behind him and “fired off a
10 couple of shots.” (VII:1649)

11
12 As Figueroa fled on foot, Jorge Mendoza lacked the capacity to do the
13 same. Mendoza, who was armed with a rifle, also sustained a gunshot wound
14 as he stepped away from the threshold of the front door at 1661 Broadmere.
15 (XII:2695-96; 2705; 2711) Specifically, Figueroa was shot in his upper leg,
16 which shattered his femur. (XII:2712) Resultantly, Figueroa was unable to
17 walk since he could not put any weight on his injured limb. (XII:2712)

18
19 With his co-conspirators nowhere in sight, Mendoza scooted down the
20 front yard of 1661 Broadmere attempting to distance himself from the source
21 of the gunfire. (XII:2715) As he slowly slid onto the street in front of the
22 residence, Mendoza balanced his rifle on his lap. (XII:2715) Once he reached
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 the street, Mendoza testified that he heard multiple gunshots from an unknown
2 source. (XII:2717) Thereafter, while he still was sitting in the street with his
3 rifle nearby, Mendoza looked towards the front door of 1661 Broadmere and
4 observed two individuals in the door way. (XII:2717-18) Upon seeing the
5 men, Mendoza testified that he was scared for his life; fearful that the men
6 who emerged from the house were going to shoot him again. (XII:2717-19)
7 Mendoza then engaged his rifle and fired in the direction of the door way.
8 (XII:2718-20) Mendoza observed one of the shots he fired strike one of the
9 men at the door. (XII:2718-19) At that point, all of the gunfire ceased and
10 Mendoza continued to scoot away from the scene of the crime. (XII:2719-20)

11
12 Mendoza scooted about a half block away from 1661 Broadmere when
13 he discovered an unlocked sedan parked in the driveway of a neighboring
14 residence. (XII:2722-23) Mendoza entered the sedan and positioned himself in
15 the back seat. (XII:2722-23) Within minutes Mendoza could hear police
16 sirens near the location of his hideout. Knowing he left a blood trail from the
17 scene of the crime to his hiding place, Mendoza awaited his near certain
18 apprehension. (XII:2723-24)

19
20 Even though he was also shot, Figueroa fled the scene with a higher
21 degree of mobility. Figueroa ran through the subdivision and eventually
22 located a walled in back yard to take cover within. (IX:2085-90) Figueroa
23

1 positioned himself between the backyard wall and a large bush as he heard an
2 increasing police presence gather nearby. (IX:2090) Figueroa remained in
3 that position throughout the night bleeding from his jaw and his torso.
4 Despite their efforts the police failed to locate Figueroa during their search.
5 Hours later, sometime around 6:00 a.m., Figueroa phones his sister who picks
6 him up and drives him away from the neighborhood. (IX:2108-11) After
7 spending multiple days injured at his residence, Figueroa is driven to a
8 hospital in California where he receives medical treatment for his injuries.
9 (IX:2110) When California law enforcement questions Figueroa at the
10 hospital he informs them he sustained the gunshot wounds while carelessly
11 shooting guns in the desert. (IX:2111-13)

12
13
14
15
16 *B. The Police Quickly Arrest Two but Struggle to Identify the Rest*

17 Within twenty minutes of the shootout, a heavy police presence
18 converged on 1661 Broadmere and the surrounding area. Upon arriving, the
19 police located Monty Gibson, with a single gunshot wound to the head, dead
20 on the ground at the doorway to the residence. (VI:1305) Upon entering the
21 home, the police located Joseph Larsen and his father, Steven Larsen¹, inside.
22

23
24 ¹ Steven Larsen testified at trial that he arrived to Joseph's residence after the
25 shootout but before the police were on scene. (VIII:1716-17) He entered the
26 home to find his son hysterical inside the home. (VIII:1717) Thereafter, the
27
28

1 (VI:1307-1309) Two handguns were located in the kitchen area of the home.

2 (VI:1309) After an extensive search, no marijuana or sums of money were
3 located anywhere in the residence. (V:1157-59)
4

5 Outside of the residence, the police on scene located two blood trails
6 that started in the street in front of 1661 Broadmere and headed away from the
7 front door. (VI:1313-16) One of the blood trails was consistent and relatively
8 short in length. (VI:1314-15) It led the police to the sedan where Mendoza
9 was hiding in the back seat. (VI:1315) Mendoza was removed from the sedan
10 and transported to the hospital in police custody. (V:1166)
11

12 The second blood trail was less consistent in comparison to the first
13 blood trail left by Mendoza. (V:1184-86) The police followed the blood trail
14 as it stopped and started again on multiple streets within the subdivision.
15 (V:1185-88) Despite their efforts in the hours that followed the crime, the
16 police were unable to locate the individual responsible for the second blood
17 trail.
18

19 The police interrogated Mendoza both at the scene and later at the
20 hospital. (VIII:1812-13) On both occasions Mendoza denied involvement in
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28 two of them attempted to render medical aid to Gibson. (VIII:1718) The
police then arrived and placed both Steven and Joseph into temporary police
custody. (VIII:1720)

1 the crime and provided the police with no leads regarding the identity of the
2 other assailants. (VIII:1812-15)

3
4 *1. Suspicion Forms Around Summer Rice*

5 On the night of the crime, within hours of the shooting, the police
6 interviewed Steven Larsen at the scene. (VIII:1720-23) Steven strongly
7 believed that Summer Larsen was responsible for the events that led to
8 Gibson's death and he communicated that to the police. (VIII:1722-24)
9 Steven's belief that Summer was responsible stemmed from multiple past
10 events. First, a family friend approached Steven hours before the crime and
11 informed Steven that Summer intended to burglarize Joseph's house that
12 night. (VIII:1723-24) Further, roughly two weeks before the crime, Steven
13 witnessed Summer outside of the 1661 Broadmere residence throwing cans in
14 an attempt to smash the windows of the home. (VIII:1724-26) Steven
15 confronted Summer and told her to stop. (VIII:1725) During the conversation
16 that ensued, Summer confessed to burglarizing Joseph's house on two
17 previous occasions and said "I'm about ready to send a couple people over
18 here and end my whole problem." (VIII:1725) Steven believed that Summer
19 expressed an intent to have someone take care of his son in the near future.
20 (VIII:1725)
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 Based on these revelations, the police quickly developed Summer as a
2 suspect and sought to contact her. Within days of the crime, Summer fled to
3 Utah to avoid police contact. (VI:1374-75) Interviews with Ashley Hall,
4 Steven Larsen and other acquaintances of Summer caused the police to arrest
5 Summer for her alleged role in planning this crime.
6

7
8 When interviewed by the police, Summer denied involvement in the
9 crime and pleads that she has no knowledge of the identity of the assailants.
10 (VI:1379-81). From Clark County Detention Center, Summer made multiple
11 jail calls to David Murphy. (VI:1378) During these recordings, neither
12 Summer nor Murphy admitted to any involvement in the failed home invasion
13 scheme. (VI:1378-83)
14
15

16 2. *Gabriel Sotello Breaths Life into a Stagnant Investigation*

17 Sometime in the middle of October 2014, the homicide detectives
18 assigned to the case received a call from a North Las Vegas police detective
19 about an individual who was volunteering information on the homicide.
20 (X:2341-43) The individual, Gabriel Sotelo, was in custody for a string of
21 car burglaries when he sought to better his position by speaking with the
22 police about the homicides.
23
24

25 The homicide detectives responded to the North Las Vegas Police
26 Department to speak with Sotelo. (X:2341-43). Sotelo informed the police
27
28

1 that he was friends with two individuals who confessed to him that they were
2 present and involved in the home invasion and robbery at 1661 Broadmere.
3 Sotelo claimed the he was visiting with Robert Figueroa and Emanuel
4 Barrientos when the two men informed Sotelo that they were responsible for
5 the crime. (X:2341-45) Sotelo reported that Figueroa had two recent gunshot
6 wounds that, according to Figueroa, were sustained during the failed home
7 invasion. (X:2342-46) After providing the information, Sotelo was released
8 from custody and, the next day, he drove with the homicide detectives to
9 show them where Figueroa lived. (X:2343-47)

13 On October 20, 2014, surveillance was established and Figueroa was
14 apprehended as he exited his residence. (X:2343) Figueroa was arrested and
15 interviewed at the scene. Figueroa denied any involvement in the crime and,
16 after the interview, was transported to jail and booked into custody. (X:2349-
17 50).

20 *3. A Desperate Figueroa Reaches an Agreement with the State*

21 On October 23, 2014, three days after his arrest, Figueroa reached out
22 to the prosecutor assigned to this case to negotiate a plea bargain in exchange
23 for his testimony against his codefendants. (X:2353) A day later, two Las
24 Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (hereinafter "LVMPD") detectives
25 responded to the jail and conducted a taped interview with Figueroa. During
26
27
28

1 said interview, Figueroa was assisted by court appointed counsel. (IX:2128)
2 Having reached an agreement to testify with the State, Figueroa testified at a
3 grand jury proceeding and later testified at the joint trials of Murphy,
4 Mendoza, and Laguna. (IX:2051-2185)
5

6 Figueroa informed law enforcement that he was asked to join in on the
7 crime by Laguna, who Figueroa previously shared a prison cell with in
8 Winnemucca, Nevada. (IX:2062-64) According to Figueroa, Laguna called
9 him around 7:30 a.m. on the morning of September 21, 2014, and upon
10 hearing of the plot, Figueroa agreed to participate. (IX:2065) Soon
11 thereafter, Figueroa, who chose to bring a handgun, was picked up from his
12 home. (IX:2067-69) Figueroa didn't know the legal name of either of the
13 other two men who were involved in the crime that day but he knew one of
14 them went by the moniker of "Duboy" or "Doughboy." (IX:2130-35)
15 Laguna was the only one of the men Figueroa had a close personal
16 relationship with as of the date of the crime.
17
18
19
20

21 Figueroa learned that the plan was to burglarize the house at 1661
22 Broadmere because it was believed that the occupant had recently received
23 thirty to fifty pounds of marijuana. (IX:2075) Figueroa didn't know the
24 identity of the occupant of the home and did not know the name Summer
25 Larsen when he provided a proffer to law enforcement. (IX:2130-35)
26
27
28

1 Pursuant to his negotiations with the State, Figueroa entered a guilty
2 plea to one count each of Conspiracy to Commit Robbery and Robbery with
3 Use of a Deadly Weapon. (IX:2058; XIV:3395-96) The charge of Open
4 Murder and all other remaining charges were dismissed as part of the
5 agreement.
6

7
8 Figueroa was sentenced on December 12, 2016, after the trial against
9 the remaining defendants concluded. (XIV:3395-96) As to the Conspiracy to
10 Commit Robbery charge Figueroa received a sentence of twenty-eight (28) to
11 seventy-two (72) months in prison. (XIV:3395-96) For the Robbery with
12 Use of a Deadly Weapon, Figueroa received a sentence of fifty-five (55) to
13 one hundred eighty (180) months plus a consecutive term of twelve (12)
14 months to forty-eight (48) months for the deadly weapon enhancement.
15
16 (XIV:3395-96) The two counts were ordered to run concurrent to one
17 another. (XIV:3395-96)
18
19

20 *4. Cellular Telephone Records*

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