IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAVID MURPHY,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Sep 05 2017 11:40 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 72103

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

CASEY A. LANDIS, ESQ. Nevada Bar #009424 601 South Tenth Street, Suite 104 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 885-9580 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

(a) A brief statement regarding the subject matter on which the expert witness is expected to testify and the substance of the testimony;

(b) A copy of the curriculum vitae of the expert witness; and

(c) A copy of all reports made by or at the direction of the expert witness.

The State argued that they had noticed their expert witnesses well in advance of trial. On March 26, 2015, the State filed a Notice of Expert Witnesses that included custodians of record from AT&T, T-Mobile, Cricket, Metro PCS, Verizon, and Neustar phone companies, including identical statements that they "will testify as experts regarding how cellular phones work, how phones interact with towers, and the interpretation of that information." 1 AA 44-48. On April 3, 2015, the State filed a Supplemental Notice of Expert Witnesses, which again included those experts. 1 AA 49-53. On August 15, 2016, the State filed a Second Supplemental Notice of Expert Witnesses, which included the above experts. 1 AA 208-12. On August 22, 2016, the State filed a Third Supplemental Notice of Expert Witnesses, which again included the above experts, as well as E. "Gino" Bastilotta from the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department ("LVMPD") who "will testify as an expert regarding how cellular phones work, how phones interact with towers, and the interpretation of that information" and Chris Candy, also from LVMPD, who was to testify as to the same. 1 AA 213-33. The Notice included the required CVs. <u>Id.</u> Voir Dire began on September 12, 2016, 21 days later. 2 AA 307.

Murphy now argues that the "substance" of the records disclosed on September 19, 2016, was not timely disclosed. AOB 47-48. However, Murphy fails to recognize that the State provided those records under its continuing duty to disclose pursuant to NRS 174.234(3)(b) in much the same manner as it disclosed that Summer would testify in section I, supra. The Notices of Expert Witnesses put Murphy on notice that experts would testify as to cell phone records well in advance of trial, and the State obviously could not provide notice that the experts would testify as to *those specific records* prior to the State receiving them. Importantly, these records were not in the possession or control of the State – they were owned and kept by the cell phone companies that produced the records. When the State noticed the records were incomplete, the prosecution asked for, and received, more complete records which were then immediately forwarded to Murphy and the other defendants. 6 AA 1272. Because the records were kept by cell phone companies, Murphy could have, of course, noticed that the records were incomplete sooner and subpoenaed those records himself. Equally importantly, most of the text messages

appeared on Laguna and Mendoza's phones and was previously disclosed in those records; the records disclosed on September 19, 2016, merely showed the same messages from Murphy's phone. 6 AA 1274. The State further responded that these records were being admitted through the custodian of records, and not as expert witness testimony; that is, these records were raw data and not a report generated by an expert or an expert opinion based on other data. 6 AA 1274-75, 1278. Beyond that, the State had *already* disclosed phone tower information for Murphy's phone, and the additional text messaged comprised 686 *kilobytes* of information, or about 250 text messages. 6 AA 1279-80. The Court indicated that it would consider a brief continuance for Murphy's expert to review the records, and Murphy represented that he would talk with his expert to see how long that would take. 6 AA 1278, 1280.

The next day, on Tuesday, September 20, 2016, Murphy told the Court his expert would need two days, including that day. 7 AA 1558. The State replied that they did not expect their expert to testify until the end of the week, so Murphy's expert ought to have an additional day or two to review the records. 7 AA 1560. The Custodians of Record would be called the next day, to which Murphy replied "I don't think that is a problem." <u>Id.</u>

On September 21, 2016, the State called Joseph Sierra, the T-Mobile Custodian of Records, which included the Metro PCS records as the companies had merged. 7 AA 1582-1635. Murphy now complains, at length, about Sierra's

allegedly "expert" testimony, which includes what certain columns mean, what abbreviations stand for, and how to adjust the times on the records. Id.; AOB 50-52. Sierra did not (and could not) testify that the records placed Murphy in a particular location at a particular time, and did not opine that Murphy was, on the basis of the records, involved with the crimes or at a crime scene while a crime was occurring. Sierra's testimony was ministerial in explaining how to read the records, and offered the jury information about how cell phone technology worked and the technologies involved – precisely as the Notice of Expert Witnesses stated four times previously. 6 AA 1619-25. Sierra *did* confirm that Exhibit 303, which is the basis of this claim, was generated the previous Friday, which would have been September 16, 2016, and that it was produced to the Clark County investigator that Monday, the 19th – exactly as the State represented to the Court. 7 AA 1601-02. The records had been previously requested by the State, but not produced by T-Mobile until that date. 6 AA 1602.

Murphy cites to NRS 174.235, which requires the State to disclose documents "which the prosecuting attorney intends to introduce during the case in chief of the State and *which are within the possession, custody, or control of the State...*" (emphasis added.) For the reasons discussed above, and confirmed by Sierra's testimony, the records were not in the possession of the State until September 19, 2016, at which point they were immediately forwarded to the defense, including Murphy. 6 AA 1272. As such, NRS 174.235 is inapplicable. Murphy also argues at

length about how the State could have recognized that the records were incomplete previously, although as the incomplete records were previously disclosed and the business records of T-Mobile were not in the control or possession of the State, Murphy could certainly have done the same. AOB 53. Murphy's final sentence could, with as much frankness and emphasis, read: Due diligence would have allowed Murphy "to obtain the complete records well before trial ... at a time that did not impose a severe prejudice" on the defense. Murphy's citation to Sampson v. State, 121 Nev. 820, 122 P.3d 1255, (2005), is inapplicable for the same reason why NRS 174.235 is inapplicable – the record reflects that the State, unlike the defendant in Sampson, did not have possession of Exhibit 303 until the day it was disclosed to Murphy. Finally, the expert testimony which used the records to tie Murphy to a crime scene, or to show him collaborating and conspiring with the co-defendants, was not put before the jury until Officer Gandy testified on Friday, September 23, 2016. 9 AA 1962-2047. This is precisely when the State anticipated that the expert would testify. On September 20, 2016, Murphy represented that his expert would need until September 21, 2016 to review the records. 7 AA 1558. Murphy's expert received twice as much time as he required to review the records, and was, therefore, not prejudiced.

Accordingly, the Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Murphy's motion to exclude the records, as the State disclosed the records as soon as they were

available, the records were available earlier through Murphy's own due diligence,

and Murphy was given twice as long as he represented that he needed to prepare

given the new disclosure. Therefore, Murphy's claim should be denied.

IV.

THE COURT WAS WITHIN ITS DISCRETION TO ADMIT FIGUEROA'S AGREEMENT TO TESTIFY

This Court reviews a district court's decision to admit or exclude evidence

for an abuse of discretion. Hernandez, 124 Nev. at 649, 188 P.3d at 1131; see, e.g.,

Mclellan, 124 Nev. at ____, 182 P.3d at 109. NRS 175.282 states:

If a prosecuting attorney enters into an agreement with a defendant in which the defendant agrees to testify against another defendant in exchange for a plea of guilty, guilty but mentally ill or nolo contendere to a lesser charge or for a recommendation of a reduced sentence, the court shall:

1. After excising any portion it deems irrelevant or prejudicial, permit the jury to inspect the agreement;

2. If the defendant who is testifying has not entered a plea or been sentenced pursuant to the agreement, instruct the jury regarding the possible related pressures on the defendant by providing the jury with an appropriate cautionary instruction; and

3. Allow the defense counsel to cross-examine fully the defendant who is testifying concerning the agreement.

Murphy argues that Session v. State, 111 Nev. 328, 333, 890 P.2d 792 (1995),

supports his position but, in fact, it demonstrates why his claim is meritless. In

Sessions, this Court stated that "district courts have both the discretion and the

obligation to excise such provisions unless admitted in response to attacks on the

witness's credibility attributed to the plea agreement." Id. at 334, 890 P.2d at 796.

(emphasis added.) The Sessions Court further upheld the defendant's conviction,

even though the Court permitted the jury to inspect the co-defendant's plea agreement, including the truthfulness provision, *before the defendant ever testified*, because cautionary jury instructions regarding the skepticism the jury ought to place on testimony from co-defendants-turned-State's-witnesses renders the failure to excise the truthfulness provision harmless. <u>Id.</u>

The instant case is easier to resolve than <u>Sessions</u> because the plea agreement, including the truthfulness provision, was not entered into evidence until after Figueroa testified. 10 AA 2302; AOB 58. Further, the unredacted plea agreement was provided to the jury because Murphy, Mendoza, and Laguna did precisely what Sessions cautioned could lead to a truthfulness provision remaining unredacted: They attacked the "witness's credibility attributed to the plea agreement." Laguna's attorney went first. 9 AA 2132-58. She questioned Figueroa about his decision to talk with police and enter into a plea agreement and elicited answers suggesting that Figueroa entered into the plea agreement to escape liability for a murder charge. 9 AA 2135-38, 2156-57. Mendoza's counsel followed, and to his credit managed to cross-examine Figueroa without mentioning the plea agreement. 9 AA 2158-79. Murphy's counsel followed. 9 AA 2185 – 10 AA 2238. He first asked a series of questions demonstrating that Figueroa had lied on numerous occasions. 9 AA 2187-93. Later, he proffered questions regarding a second interview that Figueroa had with police and suggested that Figueroa's testimony had changed, leading the police
to view him more favorably and provide him with favors. 10 AA 2223-27. Murphy's

questions then turned to potential sentencing implications, contextually inferring

that Figueroa was willing to tell police what he had to because he was not "looking

to spend hella years in prison." 10 AA 2227-30.

Murphy then went further, directly stating that Figueroa cooperated and

entered into the guilty plea agreement in exchange for leniency at sentencing:

Q: Do you recall when you signed the actual Guilty Plea Agreement with the State? Not when you were in court, but when you signed it? Does January 2015 sound correct?

A: Yes, sir, around -- around that time area.

Q: In --

A: Time frame.

Q: -- February 2015, does that sound about the time that you actually came to this court and pled guilty in open court pursuant to that agreement?

A: That sounds about right.

Q As of July 2015, you believe that Mr. Brown, your previous attorney, provided misrepresentation about your situation in this case, right?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: You believed he misinformed you, correct?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And he failed to discuss options with you before you sat down with the State that morning?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: When you were originally arrested and charged with murder, are you aware of what sentencing risk you faced? What was the potential sentences you could deal with?

A: Murder, that's -- that's life.

Q: Beyond that, were you also concerned potential sentences because you could have an enhanced sentence because of habitual criminal sentencing enhancements?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: So just so it's clear that means that if you were convicted of a felony, doesn't matter if it was murder or not, your sentence could be substantially enhanced because you had prior felonies?
A: Yes, sir.
Q: And now turning to what your negotiation is based on your Guilty Plea Agreement with the State, we talked some about what you expect the sentence to be or what you anticipate it to be, but having said that, let me -- let me question this; you at least have a possibility of walking out of that sentencing with a sentence of three to eight years?
A: Yes, sir. I mean, that's the bare minimum, the highest up there.
Q: Understood. But that is a possible sentence that you could hope to get?
A: Yes, sir.

10 AA 2275-77.

On redirect, the State elicited testimony that both Figueroa's counsel and the police expected him to be truthful during his interview, and that Figueroa was aware that any potential deal was going to involve prison time. 10 AA 2277-84. The State then highlighted portions of previous statements and testimony that were consistent with his testimony at trial. 10 AA 2284-98. The Court took a recess, and the State indicated that it was going to move to admit the Agreement to Testify, including the truthfulness provision. 10 AA 2302-04.

The Court stated:

"I think that independently you [Murphy] did attack the credibility of the witness on cross-examination as -- so -- clearly. And Ms. McNeill did, unlike Ms. Larsen. I thought nobody really directly attacked her credibility concerning any plea negotiation. But you have here. You've talked about his discussions with his lawyer, what he understood -- I mean, it's just very clear to me that you have suggested to the Jury that he's lying to get the benefit of his lies and to, you know, get a better deal. And the case law on that is it doesn't -- it wouldn't come in except if you do that, if you attack his credibility in regards to the Agreement to Testify. I think that does come in, unlike Ms. Larsen's."

10 AA 2303-04. The Court's last statement reflects the fact that Summer's Agreement to Testify was redacted because counsel cross-examined her without suggesting that she entered into a plea agreement and lied to receive a benefit at sentencing. 8 AA 1697, 1847. Importantly, counsel and the Court had already had a lengthy discussion about when an Agreement to Testify could be admitted unredacted pursuant to <u>Sessions</u> when Summer testified, well before Figueroa testified. 6 AA 1267-70. The Court even recessed and reviewed <u>Sessions</u> prior to making a ruling. 6 AA 1271-72.

Returning to Figueroa's Agreement to Testify, the Court indicated that, while it was allowing his unredacted Agreement to Testify to be admitted based on the cross-examination of the witness, a curative instruction was still going to be given to the jury. 10 AA 2304-05. The Guilty Plea Agreement and unredacted Agreement to Testify were then admitted. 10 AA 2317. The jury instructions included the promised curative instruction. 14 AA 3327.

Murphy's argument that "[i]f the truthfulness language was properly admitted here, then the holding in <u>Sessions</u> is meaningless because the credibility of an informant will always be attacked on cross-examination" is disingenuous for two reasons. <u>AOB</u> 59. First, the truthfulness language was admitted not because Figueroa's credibility was attacked, but because counsel asked questions indicating that Figueroa lied in order to obtain a better sentence through the Agreement. Second, Summer's Agreement was redacted pursuant to <u>Sessions</u>, and so *even within this case* the holding was proven not to be meaningless. Counsel can, and in fact did, cross-examine an informant without running afoul of <u>Sessions</u>.

Further, even if the Court erred in finding that Figueroa's cross-examination attacked his credibility on the basis of his agreement to testify, because the Court issued a curative instruction, any error was harmless as in Sessions.

V. MURPHY WAS CONVICTED BY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE

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